1

AGREEMENT

Between

THE TOWNSHIP OF HILLSBOROUGH

And

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE. COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES

AFL-CIO LOCAL 3697 - COUNCIL NO. 73

CLERICAL AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES

Cowanie County

January 1, 1993 through December 31, 1995

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE		PAGE	#
	Preamble	. 4	
1.	Recognition	. 4	
2.	Dues Check-Off	. 5	
3.	Agency Shop	. 6	
4.	Management Rights	. 7	
5.	Maintenance of Work Operations	. 9	
6.	Save Harmless Clause	. 10	
7.	Probation	. 11	
8.	Hours of Work	. 12	
9.	Seniority, Promotions, Job Vacancies & Transfers	13	
10.	Grievance Procedure	. 15	
11.	Overtime	. 20	
12.	Vacations	. 20	
13.	Holidays	. 23	
14.	Longevity	. 24	
15.	Personal Leave	. 25	
16.	Health Benefits	. 26	
17.	Rest Periods	. 27	
18.	Sick Leave	. 27	
19.	Occupational Injury	. 32	
20.	Non-Paid Leaves of Absence	. 32	
21.	Jury Leave	. 33	
22.	Bereavement Leave	. 34	
23.	Military Leave	. 35	
24.	Bulletin Boards	. 35	

25.	Union Representatives	36
26.	Union Conferences & Convention Leaves	37
27.	Access to Fersonnel Files	38
23.	Rules and Regulations	ψû
29.	Emergency	40
30.	Lateness and Absence	4 û
31.	Membership Packets	41
32.	Work Uniforms	41
33.	Wages	41
34.	Disability Insurance	43
35.	Separability and Savings	44
36.	Fully Bargained Agreement	44
37.	Term of Agreement	45
Appendix	A Job Titles	46

PREAMBLE

This Agreement, made this day of by and between THE TOWNSHIP OF HILLSBOROUGH, a body politic incorporate of the State of New Jersey, hereinafter referred to as the "Township" and AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO, LOCAL 3697, COUNCIL NO. 73, CLERICAL AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES, hereinafter referred to as "Union";

NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed as follows:

ARTICLE 1.

RECOGNITION

- A. The Township hereby recognizes the Union as the exclusive representative for collective negotiations concerning wages, hours of employment and other terms and conditions of employment as set forth herein for all white collar employees in classifications appended hereto as Appendix A who are employed by the Township, excluding all supervisors, managerial executives, confidential employees, and all other employees except such additional classifications as the parties may later agree to include.
- B. Unless otherwise indicated by the contents of this Agreement, the title "employee" shall be defined to include all bargaining unit members, the plural as well as the singular, and to include males as well as females.

ARTICLE 2.

DUES CHECK-OFF

The Township agrees to deduct from the salaries of its employees subject to this Agreement dues for the Union members. Such deduction shall be made in compliance with N.J.S.A. 52:14-15-19(e) as amended. Said monies, together with records of any corrections, shall be transmitted to the Union office on or before the 15th of the following month in which deductions were made.

If there shall be any change in the rate of membership dues during the life of this Agreement the Union shall furnish to the Township written notice 30 days prior to the effective date of such change.

The Union will provide the necessary check-off authorization forms and the Union will secure the signatures of its members on the forms and deliver the signed forms to the designated Township officials, as provided in N.J.S.A. 52:14-15(e) as amended. The Union shall indemnify, defend and save the Township harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability that may arise out of or by reason of action taken by the Township in reliance upon the salary deduction authorization cards submitted by the Union to the Township, or any action taken by the Township under provision of this Article.

ARTICLE 3

AGENCY SHOP

- A. All full-time employees who were hired after December 1, 1985, and all part-time employees working 30 hours per week or over, who are hired after January 1, 1993, shall either as a condition of their employment, pay at least the Agency Shop Representation Fee, as set out in this Article.
- B. Any new employee who does not join upon completion of their probationary period, and any employee previously employed within the unit who does not join within thirty (30) days of re-entry into employment within the unit shall, as a condition of employment, pay a Representation Fee to the Union.
- C. All employees covered by this Agreement who were hired into their current position before December 1, 1985, and who are not members of the Union may continue not being members of the Union for the duration of the contract and will not be required to pay the Representation Fee, in accordance with State law, for the duration of the Agreement.
- D. The Representation Fee shall be in an amount equal to eighty-five percent (85%) of the regular Union membership dues, fees, and assessments as certified to the Employer by the Union.
- E. The Union may revise its certification of the amount of the Representation Fee at any time to reflect changes in the regular Union membership dues, fees, and assessments.
- F. It is understood that the Union has a provision in the International Constitution which provides a procedure whereby a

person paying a fee under an agency shop agreement may obtain a rebate for that portion of his fee which is used for partisan political or ideological purposes.

- G. The Union shall establish and maintain at all times a demand and return system as provided by N.J.S.A 34:13A-5.5(c) and 5.6, and membership in the Union shall be available to all employees in the unit on an equal basis at all times, except as noted above. In the event the Union fails to maintain such a system, or if membership is not so available, the Township shall immediately cease making said deductions.
- H. The Union shall indemnify, defend, and save the Township harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability that may arise out of or by reason of action taken by the Township under the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE 4.

MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- A. The Township hereby retains and reserves unto itself, without limitation, all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it prior to the signing of this Agreement by the Laws and Constitution of the State of New Jersey and/or of the United States, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing and not limited to, the following rights:
- 1. Executive, management and administrative control of Township government and its properties, facilities and activities of its employees who utilize personnel methods and means of the most appropriate and efficient manner possible as may from time to time be determined by the Township.

discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement and then only to the extent that such specific and express terms hereof are in conformance with the Constitution or Laws of the State of New Jersev and/or of the United States.

C. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to deny or restrict the Township of its rights, responsibilities and authority under N.J.S.A. 40A:1-1 et. seq. or any of the national. state, county or local laws or regulations.

ARTICLE 5.

MAINTENANCE OF WORK OPERATIONS

- A. The Union and employees covered by this Agreement hereby covenants and agrees that for the duration of this Agreement, neither the Union nor any person acting on its behalf shall authorize or support any strike (i.e. the concerted failure to report for duty or willful absence of any employee from his position, or stoppage of work, or absence in whole or in part, from the full, faithful and proper performance of the employee's duty of employment), work stoppage, slow-down, walk-out or other illegal job action against the Township.
- B. In the event of a strike, slow-down, walk-out or job action, it is covenanted and agreed that participation in any or all such activities by any employee shall be deemed grounds for discipline including possible termination of such employee(s), which discipline may be imposed by the Township.
- C. The Union and its members hereby agree that it will make every reasonable effort to prevent people covered by this

Agreement from participating in any strike, work stoppage, slow-down, or other activity aforementioned or supporting any such activity by any other employee or group of employees of the Township, and that the Union will publicly disavow each action and order all such members who participate in such activities to cease and desist from same immediately and return to work, and take such other steps as may be necessary under the circumstances to bring about compliance with the Union.

D. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to limit or restrict the Township in its rights to seek and obtain such judicial relief as it may be entitled to have in law or in equity for injunction or damages or both, in the event of such breach by the Union or its members.

ARTICLE 6.

SAVE HARMLESS CLAUSE

The Union agrees to indemnify and hold the Township harmless against any and all claims, suits, orders, or judgments brought or issued against the Township as a result of any action by the Township under the provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 7.

PROBATION

- A. All newly-hired employees shall be subject to a three (3) month probationary period. Purpose of said probationary period is to enable the Township to evaluate the employee's work performance and conduct in order to determine whether or not the employee merits permanent employment status. If, at any time during or at the end of the probationary period, the conduct and/or performance of the employee is found to be unsatisfactory, the Township has the right to terminate the employee. The decision of the Township regarding the termination of employees who are probationary in status shall not be subject to the grievance procedure or any other recourse in law or equity.
- B. Not withstanding the aforesaid, the Township Committee may, in its sole discretion, determine that there is a need for an additional three (3) month probationary period for a particular employee and assign said employee such additional period. In the event that such extension should be given to an employee, and the Township later determines the employee has met the appropriate standards, the Township may, in its sole discretion, end the probationary period at any time, giving said employee the status of a permanent employee from the end of the first three (3) month period.
- C. Personal days, vacation benefits, holiday pay, and any other employee benefits given to permanent employees under this contract, will begin to accrue for probationary employees after the three (3) months of service with the Township, but cannot be

taken until after permanent status is obtained, unless approved by the Township Administrator or designee. However, if there are benefits given permanent employees which may also be granted to probationary employees during their term of probation, they will be given to those employees during probation as set forth in this Agreement.

- D. During said first 3 month period of probation, the employee shall not have any of the employee benefits given permanent employees unless set forth in this Agreement.
- E. Probationary employees with three (3) or more months of service are eligible for holiday pay.

ARTICLE 8.

HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

- A. The work week shall consist of five (5) consecutive days. For payroll purposes, the work week shall commence every Monday morning at the employee's regularly scheduled starting time.
- B. The Township reserves the right to institute a standardized number of hours to constitute a work week for all employees covered under this Agreement. In the event an employee is working more hours than the standardized work week, such employee shall continue to do so. In the event an employee is working fewer hours than the standardized work week, such employee will then work the standardized work week and will be compensated on a pro-rated hourly basis at straight time for the additional hours beyond his previous work week.

ARTICLE 9.

SENIORITY, PROMOTIONS, JOB VACANCIES & TRANSFERS

A. Definition and Loss

- l. Seniority is defined as an employee's length of service with the township beginning with the employee's latest date of commencing work with the Township.
- 2. Newly appointed probationary employees shall have no seniority and shall not be eligible for seniority in terms of this Agreement until they have completed the probation period. Once an employee has completed the probation period, seniority shall be set retroactive to the hiring date and shall accumulate until there is a break in the employee's service.
- 3. A break in service occurs when an employee resigns, is discharged for cause, is on leave of absence, exclusive of sick leave, retires, or is laid off. An employee who is reinstated after a break shall commence their seniority as of the date of their return without any concern toward the prior service.
- 4. For purposes of this Agreement, an employee who is absent without leave for five (5) consecutive days or who fails to notify the Township regarding a return from any leave of absence, including sick leave, shall be considered to have resigned from Township employ.
- B. If new jobs are created or if vacancies occur of at least a thirty (30) day duration, the Township shall determine the qualifications required for such position.

The Township agrees to post a notice of any new job or vacancy on the Union bulletin board for a period of five (5) working days. Such notice shall contain a description of the iob, hours of work, rate of pay and location, and when the job shall be available. Employees who are interested, in order to be eligible for such job, must sign the notice. Any employee who fails to sign the notice shall not be eligible for the vacancy or position in question. Preference will be granted on the basis of Township seniority for white collar positions provided that the applicant has the necessary skills and ability to perform the work required determined by the Township. However, all other employees are eligible to bid. If a bidder is a successful applicant for the position in question, said employee will be notified by a memorandum and a notice thereafter will be placed on the bulletin board within five (5) working days after the expiration of the five (5) working days required for the posting of such notice.

C. Any employee so selected to fill such job shall be granted a training period of sixty (60) calendar days. If it shall be determined by the Township during this period that the employee is unqualified to perform the duties to which he is promoted, the Township shall place the employee in his former position or a position equivalent thereto. The promoted employee shall receive the rate for the job in question as of the day that person begins the training period. If removed from the position, during or at the end of the training period, the employee in question shall then receive the rate of the position to which the employee is assigned following his removal.

- D. All permanent employees shall be given a forty-five (45) day written notice prior to layoffs. In the event of a layoff, white collar workers with the most Township seniority will have preference provided that they have the requisite qualifications, skills and ability to perform the work available. The determination of whether an employee has the requisite qualifications, skills and ability to perform the work available shall be within the sole discretion of management.
- E. The Township shall draw up an initial seniority list within thirty (30) days after the signing of this Agreement and such list will be posted on the Union bulletin board at that time. All employees covered by this Agreement who object to the said list shall inform the Township of said objections within thirty (30) days after the posting of such list. At the end of the thirty (30) day period, the list shall be binding on all employees. The seniority list will be updated every six (6) months.

ARTICLE 10.

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

A. A grievance is a claim by an employee based upon and limited to an alleged violation of the express terms and conditions of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the above definition of "grievance", any dispute involving the following shall not be subject to this procedure.

- Any matter, which, according to law, is beyond the power of the Township or the Township Committee;
 - 2. Matters which have specific remedy in law.
- B. It is understood that the grievant shall, during and notwithstanding the pendency of any grievance, continue under the direction of his or her superintendent and supervisors, perform all assignments and adhere to all policies, procedures, rules and regulations of the Township, until such grievance and the effect thereof shall have been fully determined.
- C. The purpose of this procedure is to secure at the lowest possible level. an equitable settlement of the problems which may arise affecting the terms and conditions of this Agreement. The parties agree that this procedure will be kept as informal as may be appropriate. Nothing contained herein shall be construed as limiting the right of any employee having a grievance to discuss the matter informally with any appropriate member of the Department, and having the grievance adjusted without the intervention of the Union.
- D. Failure by Management to communicate a decision at any Step within the time limits set forth in this procedure shall be deemed a denial of the grievance and the grievance shall go to the next higher Step.
- E. Failure by the employee or the Union at any Step to appeal the grievance to the next Step within the specified time period shall be deemed a forfeiture of the right to process the grievance to the next higher Step.

F. Steps of the Grievance procedure

The Steps shall be followed in their entirety unless any Step is waived by mutual consent:

STEP ONE:

- 1. An aggrieved employee shall institute action under this provision in writing hereof within twenty-one (21) calendar days of the occurrence of the grievance and an earnest effort shall be made to settle the differences between the aggrieved employee and his supervisor for the purpose of resolving the matter informally. Failure to act within the said twenty-one (21) calendar days shall be deemed to constitute an abandonment of the grievance.
- 2. The Supervisor, or his designee, shall render a decision in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days after the grievance is first presented to him, if it cannot be handled informally.

STEP TWO:

If the grievance has not been resolved through Step One, the grievance shall be presented in writing to the Department Head, or his designee, within seven (7) calendar days after the Supervisor's response is due. The Department Head shall respond, in writing, within seven (7) calendar days. In the event the Supervisor and the Department Head are the same individual. Step Two will be omitted and the matter will proceed to Step Three.

STEP THREE:

If the aggrieved wishes to appeal the decision of the Department Head, or his designee, the grievance should be presented to the Township Administrator, or his designee, within seven (7) calendar days after receiving the Department Head's or his designee's decision. The Township Administrator, or his designated representative, shall schedule a meeting to review the matter and shall present a decision in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days after the receipt of such grievance.

STEP FOUR:

If the grievance is not settled through Step 3, then the grievant may petition for final resolution of the grievance directly to the Township Committee. The request for resolution shall be filed, in writing, with the Township Clerk within seven (7) calendar days of the receipt of the Step 3 decision. The Township shall then arrange a mutually acceptable time for a grievance hearing within fourteen (14) calendar days after the receipt of said request. The Township Committee shall hear only one (1) grievance on only one (1) issue per hearing. No multiple grievance hearings will be permitted unless by written consent of the Union and the Township prior to the commencement of the hearing. The Township committee shall render a written decision within thirty (30) days after the hearing.

STEP FIVE:

 If the grievance is not settled at Step Four, the matter may be referred by the Union to arbitration within fifteen
 (15) working days of the decision at Step Four. An arbitrator shall be selected in accordance with the procedure of the Public Employment Relations Commission.

- Unless the parties agree otherwise, no more than one
 issue shall be presented to an arbitrator in any single case.
- 3. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by the parties. Any other expenses incurred by the parties, including but not limited to the presentation of witnesses, shall be borne by the party incurring same.
- 4. The arbitrator shall be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement and shall not have any power to add to, subtract from, or in any way modify any of the terms of this Agreement.
- 5. The decision of the arbitrator shall be in writing with reasons therefore and shall be binding upon the parties, subject however, to any applicable statutes and case law available to the parties.
 - 6. Union Representation at the Grievance Procedure:

The employee may at his option be represented by the shop steward and/or the local president at Steps One through

Three of the grievance procedure, and by the shop steward and/or local president and the AFSCME representative at Step Four.

- 7. Either the Township or the Union may waive any steps of the grievance procedure, but said waiver can only be done in writing and with the consent of the other party in question.
- 8. The time limits set forth herein shall be strictly adhered to. If any grievance has not been initiated within the time limits specified, the grievance shall be deemed to have been

waived. If any grievance is not processed to the next succeeding step in the grievance procedure within the time limits prescribed, then the disposition of the grievance at the prior step shall be deemed to be conclusive. Nothing herein shall prevent the parties from mutually agreeing to extend or contract the time limits provided for processing the grievance at any step in the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 11.

OVERTIME

- A. Employees covered by this agreement who work overtime will receive pay or compensatory time, at the discretion of the Township Administrator or his designee, at the rate of 1/1/2 times the employee's regular rate.
- B. No employee shall be paid overtime for attendance at meetings, if such attendance is required as part of said employee's job description or regularly designated duties.
- C. Mandatory attendance at meetings must be stipulated at time of hire or by a resolution.

ARTICLE 12.

VACATIONS

A. All permanent employees shall be entitled to vacation leave based on their years of continuous service. Periods of a leave of absence without pay, except for military leave, shall be deducted from the employee's total continuous service for purposes of determining the earned credit for vacation leave. Vacations with pay shall be granted to employees as follows:

From commencement of work to December 31st of year of appointment.......Employee shall accumulate one (1) day a month after the first two (2) months of employment, but said vacation days or pay does not vest until employee has been employed for six (6) months.

B. An employee shall receive vacation time in accordance with the anniversary date in any calendar, regardless of when during the year that anniversary falls. Departing employees shall be compensated for unused vacation time on a prorated monthly basis, and any vacation time used in excess of the accrued amount shall be deducted from the employee's final pay. If an employee leaves the employ of the Township in a year in which he changes steps in the vacation schedule, but prior to reaching his anniversary date, and he has already taken his vacation days based upon that date, any extra vacation time taken but not yet earned will be owed to the Township and his pay will be adjusted

accordingly. The rate of vacation pay for employees shall be the employee's regular straight time rate of pay in effect for the employee's regular job and the pay day immediately preceding the employee's vacation. Departing employees shall be compensated for unused vacation time on a prorated monthly basis, and any vacation time used in excess of the accrued amount shall be deducted from the employee's final pay.

- C. All vacations must be taken during the current year and may not be accumulated. However, if an employee is unable to utilize his full vacation entitlement because of needs of the Township, and with the approval of the Township Administrator, the employee shall be permitted to carry over a maximum of five (5) unused vacation days into the following year. The unused vacation carry-over must be taken during the year of carry-over or it will be forfeited.
- D. All earned vacation credits which are not used due to retirement, retirement due to disability, or death, shall be paid to the employee or his next-of-kin on the retirement, disability retirement, or death of the employee.
- E. All vacations must be scheduled and approved by the Township Administrator, or his designee. It is his responsibility to schedule individual vacations so that the activities of the Township may be carried out without interruption or inconvenience. Employees with seniority within the Township will be given first preference in assignment of vacations insofar as possible depending upon the departments upon which the employee is working and the needs of the Township. In

order to exercise seniority in vacation selection, employees must comply with the deadline established by the Township Administrator.

- In the event an employee has used vacation which was not earned, at the time of his resignation or termination, the Township shall be reimbursed for said unearned vacation days.
- G. Pay in lieu of vacation will not be granted by the Township.
- When an employee is out due to illness and has no accumulated sick leave to cover such illness, he may apply any unused vacation leave to cover said lost days due to illness.
- Employees called back to work while on vacation shall receive pay at the rate of 1-1/4 times the employee's regular time for the period worked and another vacation day would be scheduled in accordance with the normal terms of the within policy.

ARTICLE 13.

HOLIDAYS

There shall be fifteen (15) paid holidays during the term of this Agreement. The following days will be recognized as holidays under this Agreement:

New Year's Day

Columbus Day

Dr. Martin Luther King Day

Lincoln's Birthday General Election Day

Washington's Birthday Veterans Day

Good Friday

Thanksgiving Day

Memorial Day

Day after Thanksgiving

Independence Day Christmas Day

Labor Day

Day preceding Christmas Day

- В. In the event a holiday falls on a Saturday, it shall be celebrated on the preceding Friday.
- In the event a holiday falls on a Sunday, it shall be celebrated on the following Monday.
- Whenever a holiday falls during the time an employee is on paid sick leave that day will not be charged against his sick leave.
- Employees who are on leave of absence without pay, will not be eligible for holiday pay.
- In order to qualify for holiday pay, employees must work their scheduled work day immediately preceding and scheduled work day immediately following the holiday or holiday weekends unless on excused absence.
- G. All authorized work performed on a holiday shall be paid for at double time the employee's regular time plus that holiday pay to which the employee is entitled.
- If a special holiday, not covered by this or any other contract agreements, is declared by the Mayor and the Township Committee, unit members shall be entitled to such holiday in addition to those listed in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 14.

LONGEVITY

All full-time Township employees, in addition to the annual salary, shall be paid with their base pay during each pay period longevity payments based upon the following scale:

- 2. After ten (10) years of continuous service and starting with the eleventh (11th) year and including the fifteenth (15th) year......4% of annual salary
- 3. After fifteen (15) years of continuous service and starting with the sixteenth (16th) year and including the twentieth (20th) year......6% of annual salary

ARTICLE 15.

PERSONAL LEAVE

- A. In regard to personal leave, the following regulations apply:
- All personal days must be requested in writing at least two (2) full working days in advance except in cases of emergency.
- 2. All employees covered by this Agreement shall be eligible for three (3) days personal leave, with pay, for personal matters concerning the employees as delineated below.
- 3. Employees are required to submit a form provided by the Township and said granting of leave shall not interfere with the efficient operation of the Township.
- 4. One or more of the following categories are eligible reasons for taking personal days:

- a. Death (except as indicated in Article XXI);
- b. Court order;
- Religious observances;
- d. Personal affairs of a non-recreational nature and personal affairs or professional affairs which cannot be carried out after scheduled work hours.
- B. Personal leave shall accumulate at the rate of one day for every four months, but may not be carried over into the next calendar year.

ARTICLE 16.

HEALTH BENEFITS

- A. The Township shall provide to each member covered under this Agreement full coverage as currently in existence. Coverage shall be extended to the entire family of the employee, including spouse, and all unmarried and unemancipated children, whether naturally born or adopted and any step-children, who have not yet attained the age of twenty-three (23) years, and are actually members of the employee's immediate household.
- B. The Township reserves the right to change insurance carriers and/or self-insure so long as substantially similar benefits are provided.

ARTICLE 17.

REST PERIODS

- A. Employees within this bargaining unit may take two (2) rest periods (one in the morning and one in the afternoon) of not more than ten (10) minutes each for each day of work at times scheduled by the immediate supervisor.
- B. A rest period may not be used to cover an employee's late arrival to work or early departure, nor may it be regarded as accumulative if not taken.

ARTICLE 18.

SICK LEAVE

- A. Sick leave shall be defined as an absence of an employee from post or duty because of illness, accident, or exposure to contagious disease. An employee shall not be eligible for sick leave under this Agreement if the accident or injury occurs while the employee is being employed by a company or organization other than the Township of Hillsborough. Sick leave may be taken for illness of a member of the immediate family which is understood to mean a spouse, children, or parent residing in the same dwelling place with the employee.
- B. Regular, permanent full time salaried employees of the Township shall be eligible to accumulate sick leave on the basis of one (1) day for each month worked, to a maximum of twelve (12) days per year. In the first year of employment, employees shall be entitled to two (2) days of sick leave after they have worked for two (2) months and one (1) day of sick leave for each month thereafter. Sick leave credit shall not accumulate while an

employee is on leave whether with or without pay. Part-time employees working less than 30 hours, and temporary and probationary employees, shall not be entitled to sick leave.

C. The Township may require proof of illness from the employee on sick leave where such requirement appears reasonable. Abuse of sick leave shall be cause for disciplinary action. In cases where illness is of a recurring or chronic nature, causing recurring absences of one (1) day or less, the Township reserves the right to require competent medical evidence at the Township expense to be submitted prior to the reinstatement of said employee and also reserves the right to have the employee examined by the Township physician before returning to duty.

D. Notification

- 1. All absences due to illness or disability shall be reported immediately by or for the employee to the Township Administrator or the Department Head, or his designee, with the indication of the expected duration of such illness or disability. An employee shall notify his immediate Supervisor within one-half (1/2) hour after the start of the regularly scheduled shift for each day that the employee is going on sick leave (unless a doctor's note is submitted in advance saying the employee will be off for more than one day).
- 2. Failure to report absences on the part of any employee may be cause for disciplinary action and may result in the employee's pay being docked for the day.
- 3. If an employee is unable to report such illness, a relative or other responsible person shall notify the Township of all pertinent facts.

- 4. Members of the Township covered by this Agreement, when sick or injured, shall be responsible for notifying their superiors as to their place of confinement or any subsequent change in their place of confinement. If unable to report such, a relative or other responsible person shall notify the Department with all pertinent facts.
- E. Sick days are not accumulated in advance of time earned. Sick leave not used in a calendar year shall accumulate into the following year, but no payment shall be made upon employee termination or at any time for unused sick leave which the employee has accumulated, except as hereinafter set forth.
- F. When an absence due to illness or injury does not exceed three (3) consecutive days, normally the employee's statement of the cause will be accepted without a supporting statement by the attending physician. Any absence due to illness or injury in excess of three (3) consecutive days may, in the discretion of the Township Administrator, Department Head, or their designee, require a written statement from the attending physician. The Township also reserves the right to require the employee to be examined by the Township physician and certified as fit for duty before returning to work.
- G. An absence due to illness on a Monday or a Friday or the day preceding or following a paid holiday may require a written statement from the attending physician where the Township has previously notified the employee of such requirement. Except as otherwise provided by law, any employee covered by this Agreement who shall be absent from duty without just cause or leave of

absence for the continuous period of five (5) days, shall cease to be an employee of the Township.

- H. No employee, while on sick leave from the Township, shall be elsewhere or otherwise employed or engaged in any outside work or employment whatsoever. Whenever an employee reports being sick, it is understood that the employee will be at home, and, if for some reason the employee must leave his home during the absence for sickness, then an in that case, he must leave a telephone number where he can be reached.
- I. The Township may, at its discretion, schedule medical examinations for all Township employees annually, or more frequently, if the Township deems it necessary.
- J. Employees shall be permitted to accumulate unused sick leave during an employee's tenure for purposes of receiving terminal pay at time of retirement only. Upon retirement of any employee, any accumulated sick leave shall be paid to the employee based on the rate of one (1) day's compensation for each three (3) days of accumulated sick leave to a maximum of three thousand (\$3,000.00) dollars. If an employee dies prior to his retirement, the accumulated sick leave benefits due him shall be paid to his estate. The aforementioned provisions shall apply to employees hired prior to January 1, 1976 upon either retirement or termination.
- K. Employees who at the end of the calendar year have not utilized any sick days during the preceding twelve (12) calendar months will receive a cash payment in January of \$100.00. Those employees who have utilized three (3) or less sick days during the same time will receive a \$50.00 cash payment.

- L. Once all accumulated sick leave has been used for a sickness, the employee may apply any unused vacation leave to cover such sickness.
- M. If an employee sustains an injury or illness, he will be continued without loss of pay for a maximum of one (1) year from the date of the disability or accident. An employee will be eligible for such leave of absence if it is due to a job injury defined in the New Jersey Workers Compensation Law. Payments which an employee receives as provisions of the Workers Compensation Law or temporary disability laws shall either be remitted to the Township or used as an offset to full salary payments.
- N. Members of the Township who absent themselves in an improper manner shall be subject to disciplinary action being preferred against them.
- O. Employees covered by this Agreement, under certain qualifications, will be entitled to receive a physical provided for by the Township. Persons over the age of 40 will be entitled to receive one (1) physical per year paid for by the Township. Employees under the age of 40 will be able to receive one (1) paid physical every three (3) years. To be eligible for such physicals, employees must have such physical performed by the Township designated physician and must be cleared by the Administrator prior to the physical taking place. In addition, no other person, other than the employee, will be entitled to

such physical and only while in the employ of the Township. Said request for physical must be in writing to the Administrator in order to be eligible to receive approval for such.

ARTICLE 19.

OCCUPATIONAL INJURY

- A. Any employee who is disabled because of occupational injury shall be granted a leave of absence with full pay. Employees who are absent in accordance with the above, due to a job injury as defined in New Jersey Workmen's Compensation Law will be reimbursed to the date of the injury, when substantiated by the Township physician. Any amount of salary or wages paid or payable to such an employee for disability leave shall be reduced by the amount of Workmen's Compensation paid under the New Jersey Workmen's Compensation Act, for temporary disability. Such leave shall be limited to a maximum of one (1) year from the date of injury.
- B. Employees returning from authorized leave of absence as set forth above, will be restored to their original job classification and shift at the then appropriate rate of pay with no loss of seniority or other employee rights, privileges or benefits.

ARTICLE 20.

NON-PAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE

A. All leaves of absence without pay shall be at the discretion of the Township Committee.

B. Employees returning from authorized leaves of absence as set forth above will be restored to their original classification at the then appropriate rate of pay, with seniority continued retroactively, exclusive of the period of absence, and no loss of other employee rights, privileges, or benefits, provided, however, that sick leave, vacation leave, holiday pay and longevity shall not accrue.

ARTICLE 21.

JURY LEAVE

- A. Any permanent full-time employee covered by this
 Agreement who is required to serve on a jury, shall be granted a
 leave of absence with pay to serve on said jury. During the time
 that he is serving on said jury, the employee shall receive his
 pay from the Township. The amount of pay to be difference
 between full pay and jury pay. The employee shall be paid only
 for actual time required to serve on jury duty, and, if there are
 times the employee isn't scheduled for jury duty, then he must
 report for work. If excused before 11:00 a.m. for that day, the
 employee shall report for work.
- B. All requests for jury leave must be filed with Department Head within four (4) days from receipt of summons. Certificate of jury service following jury duty shall be submitted to the Department Head and placed in Personnel History file.

ARTICLE 22.

BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

- A. In the event of death in the employee's immediate family, the employee shall be granted time off without loss of pay from the date of death or the day of the funeral, but in no event shall said leave exceed four (4) calendar days.
- B. The term "immediate family" includes wife, husband, daughter, son, father, mother, brother, sister, grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, mother-in-law, father-in-law, or a relative who is regularly living in the employee's household.
- C. All employees covered by this Agreement shall be entitled to one (1) work day leave without loss in pay to attend the funeral of anyone in the non-immediate family. For the purpose of this Article, the term "non-immediate family" is defined to mean aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, brother-in-law and sister-in-law.
- D. But in no event shall employee be paid for more than eight (8) hours in any one work day and such bereavement leave pay shall be at employee's regular rate. Proof of death shall be submitted by employee to Township to qualify. If a member of the employee's family is buried outside the State of New Jersey and the employee does not attend said funeral, then the employee will receive only one (1) day's paid leave.

E. It is the intention of this Article that an employee will suffer no loss of regular pay for the time period specified above. In the event, however, the employee is already receiving payment in the form of vacation pay or other compensation from the Township, bereavement leave will not be granted.

ARTICLE 23.

MILITARY LEAVE

- A. Any full-time employee covered by this Agreement who is a member of the United States Reserves, or a State National Guard. and is required to engage in annual active duty training, shall be granted a leave of absence in accordance with applicable State Law.
- B. The employee shall be entitled to be paid the difference between his regular Township salary and his military pay, if the military pay is less than his regular base Township pay for the period of military leave.
- C. Such leave shall not exceed fifteen (15) consecutive days of training.

ARTICLE 24.

BULLETIN BOARDS

- A. The Township shall provide a bulletin board for the purposes of Union business.
- B. Notices of Union meetings, official Union business, Union social, recreational and educational events shall be the material posted by the Union. Such notices shall be signed by a Union officer prior to posting and must be on Union letterhead. No notices of a political nature, nor notices disrespectful to

the Township or officials of the Township shall be posted on said bulletin boards.

ARTICLE 25.

UNION REPRESENTATIVES

- A. A representative of Council #73 shall be admitted on the premises of the Employer. The representative shall notify the Township Administrator of his/her presence on the premises and indicate the nature of his/her business and anticipated duration of the visit.
- B. The Township recognizes and shall deal with the accredited Union President or his designee in all matters relating to grievances and interpretation of this Agreement.
- C. A written list of the Union Officials and Stewards shall be furnished to the Employer immediately after their designation and the Union shall notify the Employer promptly of any changes of such Union Stewards or Officials.
- D. The Township agrees to recognize a maximum of two (2) Stewards selected by the Union. The Union President or his designee shall be granted a reasonable amount of time during regular working hours, without loss of pay, to present, discuss and adjust grievances with the Township, and the investigation and presentation of grievances in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement. Both parties agree that if it is necessary for the President or his designee to perform any of such duties during his work time, the President or his designee shall be

released from work by his Supervisor when it is convenient to the Township and only to the extent necessary to make the investigation and for conferring with the Township representative. Neither the President nor his designee shall leave their work without first obtaining the permission of their division head, which permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

- E. The President or his designee is authorized to investigate, present and process grievances on or off the premises, provided such activity is not disruptive of any work in which he is engaged and subject to the necessity of maintaining his schedule and not disrupting the schedule or manpower of any other member of the bargaining unit who may be involved in the grievance. The President or his/her designee shall notify his/her supervisor whenever they are working on a grievance related matter. Union meetings which are scheduled during the lunch period must result in office coverage which is satisfactory to the Township Administrator or his/her designee.
- F. Any settlement of a grievance by the President or his designee and the employee's Supervisor involved in the dispute shall be reviewable by the Township and the Union at the request of either, and no such settlement shall establish a precedent or conflict in any manner with the provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 26.

UNION CONFERENCES AND CONVENTION LEAVES

A. An employee of the Township who is a duly authorized delegate of the Local Union may apply for a leave of absence to

attend the International Convention, Council 73 Conventions, Conferences and Educational Classes. Said leave of absence shall not exceed 2 days for any employee in any one year, nor shall the number of people so authorized exceed 2 persons in any one year. The employee receiving leave of absence to attend Union conferences as above described, shall be entitled to be paid for his or her regular wages during said leave.

- B. The Township shall approve the application for leave of absence submitted by the duly authorized delegate, so long as the efficient operation of the Township permits, however, such determination shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
- C. Thirty (30) days advance notice will be given by the Union of any such requests.

ARTICLE 27.

ACCESS TO PERSONNEL FILES

- A. An employee shall within five (5) working days of a written request to the Personnel Department, have an opportunity to review their personal folder in the presence of an appropriate official of the Personnel Department or its designee to examine any criticism, commendation or any evaluation of his work performance or conduct prepared by the Township during the term of this Agreement. They shall be allowed to place in such a file a response of reasonable length to anything contained therein.
- B. The contents of the employee's personal history file shall not be made public unless required in disciplinary proceedings or by court order or subpoena process in a judicial proceeding.

- C. Each regular written evaluation of work performance shall be reviewed with the employee and evidence of this review shall be the required signature of the employee on the evaluation form. Such signature shall not be construed to mean agreement with the contents of the evaluation unless such agreement is stated thereon.
- D. The contents of a written evaluation of an employee shall not be subject to the grievance procedure, but said employee may confer with the Personnel Committee of the Township Committee and any determination by said Personnel Committee shall be non-grievable.
- E. The Township will establish a log for each personnel file of employees covered by this Agreement which will contain a list of items in the file and the date of inclusion in the file.
- F. The Township shall maintain only one (1) set of personnel records and it shall be maintained by the Township Clerk.
- G. Before any disciplinary action is placed in an employees personnel file, said employee shall be notified of such action in the presence of a Union Steward or President if the employee so desires.

ARTICLE 28.

RULES AND REGULATIONS

- A. Copies of all Rules and Regulations shall be posted on the bulletin board.
- B. Where any rules, regulations or policies are in conflict with the express provisions of this Agreement, then the express provisions of this Agreement shall govern.

ARTICLE 29.

EMERGENCY

- A. In an emergency, each and every employee shall be subject to call for overtime duty and it is each employee's responsibility to cooperate and accept such overtime work, when required. Emergency is hereby defined as that period of time when the health, safety and general welfare of the public is in jeopardy.
- B. The determination as to what conditions constitute an emergency will be at the discretion of the Mayor and/or his designee and will not be subject to the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 30.

LATENESS AND ABSENCE

A. Employees have the responsibility to notify their supervisor prior to the beginning of their assigned shift if they are to be tardy or absent. If, for some reason, the employee is unable to call prior to the beginning of his shift, he must make notification within the first 1/2 hour of his assigned shift to advise them of the fact.

B. If an employee fails to notify said Supervisor that he is tardy or absent, he may be subject to discipline and/or the loss of pay for the period of time during which he is either tardy or absent.

ARTICLE 31.

MEMBERSHIP PACKETS

- A. The Union may supply kits or packets which contain information for distribution to new employees, including the role of the Union, the membership application and a copy of this Agreement, as well as other material mutually agreed to by the Township and the Union.
- B. The Union agrees to distribute such membership kits or packets to new employees during the initial phase of employment but only during non-working hours.

ARTICLE 32.

WORK UNIFORMS

Appropriate foul weather gear will be furnished for use by the Engineering Department, Building Department, Planning Board and Board of Health employees.

ARTICLE 33.

WAGES

- A. The Township will pay each employee at the end of each two (2) week period. Payroll shall be calculated on the number of work days in each year which this Agreement covers.
- B. For purposes of wage determination employees of the clerical staff are grouped into two (2) classes as follows:

CLASS I

Deputy Court Clerk

Senior Tax Clerk

Bookkeeper

Clerk to Tax Assessor

CLASS II

Secretary to Township Engineer

Secretary to Board of Health

Flanning Board Clerk

Construction Department Clerk

Public Works Department Clerk

Clark to Planning Board/Board of Adjustment

Receptionist

Police Secretary

Secretary to Recreation/Board of Health

- C. Wages for employees of the clerical staff shall be computed by multiplying their hourly rate, as set forth below times the number of work days in a year, times the number of hours in the employee's normal work day.
- D. Effective January 1, 1993, all employees covered by this Agreement shall receive a $4\ 1/2\%$ increase in their present salary.
- E. Effective January 1, 1994, all employees covered by this Agreement shall receive a 5% increase on their December 31, 1993, salary.
- F. Effective January 1, 1995, all employees covered by this Agreement shall receive a 5% increase on their December 31, 1994, salary.

G. HOURLY RATES FOR EMPLOYEES OF THE CLERICAL STAFF

I	1993	1994	1995
1 2 3 4	\$10.17 11.31 12.72 14.13	\$10.68 11.88 13.36 14.84	\$11.21 12.47 14.03 15.58
II	1993	1994	1995
1 2 3 4	\$ 9.60 10.74 11.87 12.44	\$10.08 11.28 12.46 13.06	\$10.58 11.84 13.08 13.71 14.76
	1 2 3 4 II 1 2 3	1 \$10.17 2 11.31 3 12.72 4 14.13 II 1993 1 \$9.60 2 10.74 3 11.87 4 12.44	1 \$10.17 \$10.68 2 11.31 11.88 3 12.72 13.36 4 14.13 14.84 II 1993 1994 1 \$9.60 \$10.08 2 10.74 11.28 3 11.87 12.46 4 12.44 13.06

- H. All regular retirees shall be entitled to the retroactivity.
- I. Employees hired after July 1 of each year are not eligible for the following year increase.

ARTICLE 34.

DISABILITY INSURANCE

A. The Township shall obtain from an insurance company authorized to do business in New Jersey a disability policy of insurance covering each employee and providing disability insurance equal to 50% of the employee's base salary and payable

for a term of six (6) months, subject to a twenty-one (21) day waiting period. The Township shall pay 100% of the cost of said policy.

ARTICLE 35.

SEPARABILITY AND SAVINGS

If any provision of this Agreement or any application of this Agreement to any employee or group of employees is held to be contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid, except to the extent permitted by law, and that all other provisions or applications of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 36.

FULLY BARGAINED AGREEMENT

- A. This Agreement incorporates the entire understanding of the parties on all matters which were or could have been the subject of negotiation.
- B. During the term of this Agreement, neither party shall be required to negotiate with respect to any such matters whether or not within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated or executed this Agreement.

ARTICLE 37.

TERM OF AGREEMENT

- This Agreement shall be effective as of the 1st day of Α. January, 1993 and shall remain in full force and effect through the 31st day of December. 1995.
- It shall be automatically renewed from year to year thereafter unless either party shall notify the other party in writing ninety (90) days prior to the anniversary date that it desires to modify this Agreement. In the event that such notice is given, negotiations shall begin not later than sixty (60) days prior to the anniversary date.
- This Agreement shall remain in full force and be effective during the period of negotiations and until notice of termination of this Agreement is provided to the other party. In the event that either party desires to terminate this Agreement at the anniversary date, written notice must be given to the other party not less than 10 days prior to the desired termination date.

Township of Hillsborough County of Somerset

AFSCME, Local 3697-Council 73

Maker of Hillsborough

Township

Township Clerk of Hillsborou

APPENDIX A - JOB TITLES

Clerk to Planning Board Zoning Officer Secretary to Police Chief Folice Department Clerk Clerk to Public Works Sr. Tax Clerk Clerk to Tax Collector & Treasurer Building Sub Code Official Building Inspector Clerk to Construction Official Fire Inspector Fire Protection Inspector Fire Sub-Code Official Plumbing Inspector Flumbing Sub-Code Official Assistant Construction Department Clerk Clerk to Assessor Field Inspector Assistant to Township Engineering Secretary to Township Engineer Designer Sr. Designer Engineer Aide I Engineer Aide II Secretary to Board of Health Sanitarian Sanitarian Aide Deputy Court Clark 2nd Deputy Court Clerk/Violations Clerk Bookkeeper Clerk to the Planning Board/Board of Adjustment Assistant Planning Board Clerk Receptionis Health Educator Assistant Planner Clerk to the Engineering Department Health and Recreation Clerk Health Educator Police Secretary Secretary to Recreation/Board of Health